ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The introduction of testimonial hearsay violated Mr. Jackson' s Sixth
and Fourteenth Amendment right to confrontation. 

2. The trial court erred by allowing the state to introduce a written report
containing testimonial hearsay. 

3. The trial court erred by overruling Mr. Jackson' s objections to the
admission of testimonial hearsay. 

4. The trial court erred by overruling Mr. Jackson' s hearsay objections. 

ISSUE 1: The right to confront witnesses generally prohibits
admission of testimonial hearsay. Here, the court admitted
prejudicial hearsay from two witnesses who did not testify. 
Did the court violate Mr. Jackson' s Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendment right to confrontation? 

ISSUE 2: ER 805 prohibits the admission of hearsay within
hearsay unless each statement fits within a hearsay exception. 
Here, the trial court admitted medical records that included

written statements from two non - testifying witnesses, 
summarizing information they learned from the alleged victim. 
Did the trial court violate ER 802 and ER 805 by admitting the
written statements of a non - testifying nurse and social worker

summarizing statements made by the alleged victim in this
case? 

ISSUE 3: The business records exception to the rule against

hearsay permits introduction of routine clerical entries, but not
narrative summaries, opinions, or statements involving the
exercise of judgment, and the like. Here, the trial court

admitted medical records containing narrative summaries

prepared by two non - testifying witnesses based on their
interviews with the alleged victim. Did the trial court err by
admitting the medical records under the business records
exception to the rule against hearsay? 

5. Mr. Jackson was denied his right to a speedy trial under CrR 3. 3. 



6. The trial judge erred by continuing the trial beyond Mr. Jackson' s
speedy trial expiration date. 

ISSUE 4: A court may not continue a case beyond the
expiration of speedy trial based on witness unavailability, 
where the state has not subpoenaed the witness. Here, the

court granted two continuances based on the unavailability of
state witnesses who had not been subpoenaed. Did the court

violate Mr. Jackson' s CrR 3. 3 right to a speedy trial? 

7. The trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser
included offense of fourth- degree assault. 

8. Mr. Jackson' s conviction was entered in violation of his statutory right
to have the jury consider applicable lesser offenses. 

9. The trial judge violated Mr. Jackson' s Fourteenth Amendment right to

due process by refusing to instruct on the included offense of fourth - 
degree assault. 

ISSUE 5: An accused person has an unqualified statutory right
to instructions on applicable lesser - included offenses. Here, 

the court failed to take the evidence in a light most favorable to

Mr. Jackson, and refused to instruct on the inferior degree

offense of simple assault. Did the court apply the wrong legal
standard and violate Mr. Jackson' s right under RCW 10. 61. 003

to instruction on an applicable lesser - included offense? 

ISSUE 6: Due process requires the court to instruct on

applicable lesser - included offenses upon request. Here, the

court refused to instruct on the applicable lesser offense of

simple assault. Did the court violate Mr. Jackson' s Fourteenth

Amendment right to due process? 

10. The prosecutor committed misconduct that was flagrant and ill- 

intentioned. 

11. The prosecutor improperly urged jurors to convict based on passion, 
prejudice, and sympathy. 
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12. The prosecutor mischaracterized the burden of proof in a manner that

relieved the state ofproving the elements of the offense beyond a
reasonable doubt. 

13. The prosecutor improperly disparaged the role of defense counsel. 

ISSUE 7: A prosecutor commits misconduct by appealing to
jurors' passion, prejudice, and sympathy. Here, the prosecutor
encouraged the jury to convict in order to give domestic
violence victims a voice. Did prosecutor' s appeal to the jury' s
emotions violate Mr. Jackson' s Fourteenth Amendment right to

a fair trial? 

ISSUE 8: A prosecutor commits misconduct by
mischaracterizing the state' s burden of proof. Here, the
prosecutor trivialized the state' s burden by comparing it to the
jury' s belief that the earth is round and that the prosecutor is an
attorney. Did the prosecutor' s minimization of the state' s
burden violate Mr. Jackson' s Fourteenth Amendment right to a

fair trial? 

ISSUE 9: A prosecutor commits misconduct by disparaging
the role of defense counsel. Here, the prosecutor argued that

defense counsel' s theory of the case left him " at a loss for
words," and hoped it left the jury "at a loss for words" as well. 
Did prosecutor' s disparagement of defense counsel violate Mr. 

Jackson' s Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial? 

14. Mr. Jackson was deprived of his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment

right to the effective assistance of counsel. 

15. Defense counsel sought exclusion of prejudicial evidence but

unreasonably failed to argue a confrontation violation. 

ISSUE 10: Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by
failing to argue all available bases for the exclusion of
prejudicial evidence. Mr. Jackson' s defense attorney sought to
exclude testimonial hearsay, but made only one objection on
confrontation grounds. Was Mr. Jackson denied his Sixth and

Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of

counsel? 

3



16. The trial court erred by imposing attorney fees in the amount of $1135. 

17. The trial court' s imposition of attorney' s fees infringed Mr. Jackson' s
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel. 

18. The court erred by finding that Mr. Jackson has the present or future
ability to pay his legal financial obligations. 

19. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 4. 1 ( Judgment
and Sentence). 

ISSUE 11: A court' s statutory authority to impose costs is
limited to " expenses specially incurred by the state in
prosecuting the defendant" and does not extend to " expenses
inherent in providing a constitutionally guaranteed jury trial." 
The court ordered Mr. Jackson to pay $1135 in fees for his
court- appointed attorney. Did the court exceed its statutory
authority? 

ISSUE 12: A court may not order an accused person to pay
the costs of court- appointed counsel without first determining
that s /he has the present or future ability to pay. The court
ordered Mr. Jackson to pay the cost of his public defender
without first inquiring into his ability to pay. Did the court
impermissibly chill Mr. Jackson' s Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendment right to counsel? 

ISSUE 13: A court may not enter a finding that a person has
the present or future ability to pay legal financial obligations
absent support in the record. The court entered a boilerplate

finding that Mr. Jackson had the ability to pay even though it
found him indigent and did not conduct any inquiry into his
financial situation. Does the court' s finding lack adequate
support in the record? 

ISSUE 14: Illegal or erroneous sentences may be corrected at
any time. Here, Mr. Jackson did not object to the imposition of
unauthorized costs and fees at sentencing. Should the Court of

Appeals correct his illegal or erroneous sentence despite the

absence of an objection in the trial court? 

F. 



20. The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Jackson to pay a $ 100 domestic

violence assessment. 

21. The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Jackson to pay a $ 100 expert

witness fund contribution. 

22. The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Jackson to pay $500 to the Kitsap
County special assault unit. 

ISSUE 15: A court may order a $ 100 domestic violence

assessment in cases involving domestic violence. The court
ordered Mr. Jackson to pay the assessment even though the
jury did not find that his case involved domestic violence. Did
the court exceed its statutory authority? 

ISSUE 16: No statute authorizes a court to order payment into

an expert witness fund. The court ordered Mr. Jackson to pay
100 to the Kitsap County expert witness fund. Did the court

exceed its statutory authority? 

ISSUE 17: No statute permits a court to order an offender to

pay a contribution to a special assault unit. The court ordered
Mr. Jackson to pay $500 into the Kitsap County special assault
unit. Did the court exceed its statutory authority? 

5



STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Mr. Jackson was charged with second degree assault. CP 1 - 2.
1

The alleged victim, Amber Lindsey, did not testify at Mr. Jackson' s trial. 

See generally RP ( trial). Instead, the state relied on testimony from an

eyewitness, the arresting officer, and the doctor who had treated a small

cut on Lindsey' s head. RP ( trial) 371 -452. 

The state also offered Lindsey' s medical records. Ex. 12A. In

addition to notes from the testifying doctor, the records also contained

statements from a non - testifying triage nurse and social worker. Ex 12A, 

pp. 3 -4, 9 -10. Both of these non - testifying witnesses had interviewed

Lindsey. Ex 12A, pp. 3 -4, 9 -10. Over Mr. Jackson' s objection, the court

admitted the records. The court reasoned that Lindsey' s statements in the

record were made for medical diagnosis or treatment. RP ( trial) 26 -27. 

The court also found that the records were an authenticated business

record. RP ( trial) 363 -64. 

events: 

The note from the triage nurse included Lindsey' s version of

Pt says ` my ex boyfriend (Michael) just beat me up on the side of
the road. A nice couple helped me.'... she states she was pushed

Mr. Jackson moved to dismiss the case pretrial based on a violation of his right to

a speedy trial. CP 38 -39. The facts regarding the speedy trial issue are set forth in the
argument section below. 

no



into a wooden pole hitting the back of her head, he tried to strangle
her, pulled her hair and ` pushed my head into stuff.' She is

tearful... 

Ex. 12A, pp. 3 -4. 

The social worker described Lindsey as a " 32 yr old female

brought to ER after alleged assault by her boyfriend, bystanders stopped

the assault and brought the pt to the ER." Ex 12A, p. 9. The social

worker' s notes restated Lindsey' s story: 

Pt reports that her boyfriend got mad when she tried to leave today
and she refused to tell him where she was going. Pt states that he
hit her in the face /head and hit her against a street sign or pole. 

Bystanders stopped and helped her... 

Referred for domestic violence assessment and crime victims. Pt

was assaulted this morning by her boyfriend, `Michael Jackson.' 

Pt is reluctant to provide further information. 

Ex. 12A, pp. 9 -10. 

The social worker' s notes also stated that Lindsey was " referred for

possible abuse /neglect /violence." Ex. 12A, p. 9. 

At trial, Mr. Jackson offered a jury instruction on the lesser- 

included offense of fourth degree assault. RP ( trial) 485; CP 55. He

argued that the evidence established an injury that did not qualify as

substantial bodily harm. RP ( trial) 480 -82. The doctor provided the only

evidence of Lindsey' s injury. He described it as a three centimeter

laceration that required stitches. RP ( trial) 376. The doctor did not see

Lindsey after treating her, and did not know whether the cut had left a

visible scar. RP ( trial) 381 -82. 
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The court declined to give the instruction. The judge found that

Mr. Jackson had failed to present affirmative evidence that the injury did

not qualify as substantial bodily harm. RP ( trial) 482 -85. 

In closing, the prosecutor argued that the jury should convict Mr. 

Jackson in order to give domestic violence victims a voice: 

V] ictims of domestic violence need a voice. They do. Even when
they' re not potentially strong enough to stand up on their own, they

need someone to stand up for them. And that' s why we' re here
today. You didn' t hear from the victim, but you did hear her voice. 
RP ( trial) 527. 

The prosecutor also compared the state' s burden of proof to

knowing that the earth is round or that the prosecutor is an attorney: 

I used the example of giving someone $ 100, 000 if they can prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the earth is a sphere, the earth is

round. Okay. And we all agree that no one had ever been to space, 
no one had actually observed the earth being round. But we had a
common sense appreciation of the fact. We all agreed that because

of that, we were satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the earth

is round. All right. That' s how you need to think about the proof in

this case, having a common sense appreciation of the facts. 
RP ( trial) 515. 

In jury selection I talked a little bit about the lawyer example, 
and I proposed to you a scenario where I wasn't actually an
attorney, where I had come in here and told the prosecutor to take
the day off. And I proposed that scenario to you. Okay. And we all
agreed that that couldn't have happened; because even though you

hadn't seen my bar card, even though you hadn't seen me graduate
from law school, even though you hadn't seen my diploma on the
wall of my office, you had confidence in the fact that I'm an
attorney based on the appearances and circumstances that you were
presented with. Well, you can have confidence in the fact that the



defendant committed this crime because of the appearances and

circumstances that you are presented with. 

RP ( trial) 567. 

Defense counsel did not raise objections to these arguments. 

After Mr. Jackson' s closing argument, the prosecutor told jurors

that defense counsel' s argument shocked him: 

You know, I'm going to go off script here for a second ... I do this

for a living. Okay. I talk for a living. That' s what I do. It' s not often
that I am at a loss for words. After the defense attorney's
presentation, I found myself at a loss for words. 

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Your Honor, I'm going to object at this
point. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

PROSECUTOR: He sat here, he stood here and told you that the

victim was reckless. He stood here and told you that the people

that helped her were reckless, the people that potentially saved her
life were reckless. 

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Your Honor, that's a mischaracterization

of argument. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 

RP ( trial) 563 -64. 

PROSECUTOR: I hope that leaves you at a loss for words as well. 

RP ( trial) 565. 

Mr. Jackson moved for a mistrial based on prosecutorial

misconduct. RP ( trial) 571. The court denied the motion. RP ( trial) 571. 

The jury found Mr. Jackson guilty of second - degree assault. RP

trial) 575 -76. The jury did not fill in an answer on the special verdict

form asking whether the offense had involved domestic violence. RP

trial) 575 -76. 
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At sentencing, the court ordered Mr. Jackson to pay $ 1135 in fees

for his court — appointed attorney, a $ 100 domestic violence assessment, a

100 contribution to the Kitsap County expert witness fund, and a $ 500

contribution to the Kitsap County special assault unit. CP 17. 

This timely appeal follows. CP 22. 

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT VIOLATED ER 802 AND MR. JACKSON' S SIXTH AND

FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONT ADVERSE

WITNESSES. 

A. Standard of Review. 

A denial of the Sixth Amendment right to confront adverse

witnesses is reviewed de novo. State v. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d 96, 108, 271

P. 3d 876 ( 2012). Such an error requires reversal unless the state can show

that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 117. Manifest error

affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on appeal. 

RAP 2. 5( a)( 3).' 

2 Division I has held that a violation of the Confrontation Clause cannot be

raised for the first time on appeal. State v. O' Cain, 169 Wn. App. 228, 232, 279 P. 3d 926
2012). Division III has held that a confrontation error can be raised for the first time on

appeal, subject to harmless error analysis. State v. James, 138 Wn. App. 628, 641, 158
P. 3d 102 ( 2007). Mr. Jackson objected to the admission of Lindsey' s hospital records on
confrontation grounds. RP 339 -40. However, if Mr. Jackson' s confrontation error is

waived, his defense attorney' s failure to preserve the issue constituted ineffective
assistance of counsel, as argued elsewhere in this brief. 
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The interpretation of an evidentiary rule presents a question of law, 

reviewed de novo. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 419, 269 P. 3d 207

2012). If the trial court interpreted the rule correctly, the appellate court

ordinarily reviews for an abuse of discretion.
3

Id. However, an

evidentiary ruling alleged to infringe a constitutional right must be

reviewed de novo. State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280 -281, 217 P.3d

768 ( 2009). 

B. The court violated Mr. Jackson' s right to confront adverse

witnesses by admitting testimonial statements from a non - 
testifying social worker and triage nurse. 

The state and federal constitutions guarantee an accused person the

right to confront adverse witnesses. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Wash. 

Const. art. I, § 22. The Confrontation Clause prohibits the admission of

testimonial statements by a non - testifying witness unless the witness is

unavailable and the accused has had a prior opportunity for cross- 

examination. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d at 109 ( citing Crawford v. Washington, 

541 U.S. 36, 59, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 ( 2004)). 

3 A trial court abuses its discretion when it makes a decision that is manifestly
unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. State v. Depaz, 165 Wn.2d 842, 858, 204 P.3d

217 ( 2009). The improper admission of evidence requires reversal if there is a reasonable

probability that it materially affected the outcome of the case. State v. Fuller, 169 Wn. App. 
797, 831, 282 P.3d 126 ( 2012) review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1006, 297 P. 3d 68 ( 2013) ( Fuller

I). 
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The state bears the burden of establishing that a statement is non- 

testimonial and, therefore, admissible even absent an opportunity to cross- 

examine. State v. Hurtado, 173 Wn. App. 592, 600, 294 P. 3d 838 ( 2013) 

review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1021, 304 P. 3d 115 ( 2013). 

Testimony is "[ a] solemn declaration or affirmation made for the

purpose of establishing or proving some fact." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 51. 

A statement is testimonial if it is " made under circumstances which would

lead an objective witness reasonably to believe that the statement would

be available for use at a later trial." Jasper, 174 Wn.2d at 115 ( citing

Crawford, 541 U.S. at 52). 

The Confrontation Clause analysis is separate from analysis under

the rules of evidence. Crawford, 541 U. S. at 51. 

At Mr. Jackson' s trial, the court admitted records that included

extensive notes from a non - testifying hospital social worker and triage

nurse. Ex. 12A, pp. 3 -4, 9 -10. The court found that the statements were

admissible. The court reasoned that Lindsey had spoken to the social

worker and triage nurse for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment

and that the notes were in an authenticated business record. RP ( trial) 344, 

363 -64. The court did not respond when Mr. Jackson pointed out that the

records also raised a confrontation issue. RP ( trial) 339 -40. 
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Statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment

are not testimonial for confrontation purposes. See e.g. State v. Sandoval, 

137 Wn. App. 532, 538, 154 P. 3d 271 ( 2007); State v. Saunders, 132 Wn. 

App. 592, 603, 132 P. 3d 743 ( 2006); State v. Moses, 129 Wn. App. 718, 

730, 119 P. 3d 906 ( 2005); State v. Fisher, 130 Wn. App. 1, 13, 108 P. 3d

1262 ( 2005). In such cases, a medical professional may relay the alleged

victim' s statement to the jury. See, e.g., Sandoval, 137 Wn. App. at 538. 

In each of the cases cited above, the medical professional testified

at trial. Id. The medical professional was subject to cross - examination

regarding the alleged victim' s statements. Id. 

Here, on the other hand, the triage nurse and social worker did not

testify. Mr. Jackson had no opportunity to cross examine the triage nurse

or the social worker.
4

The social worker and triage nurse' s statements were testimonial

under Crawford. Jasper, 174 Wn.2d at 115. When they formalized their

statements in the medical records, the non - testifying witnesses would have

been reasonably aware that they would be available for later use at trial. 

Id. This is especially true because Lindsey alleged that she' d been the

4 Mr. Jackson does not contest the admissibility of Lindsey' s statements to the
medical professionals. Had the nurse and social worker testified, he could have cross - 

examined them about Lindsey' s statements, and his confrontation right would have been
satisfied. 
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victim of a crime. In fact, the social worker suggested a referral to law

enforcement. Ex. 12A, p. 10. 

The statements from the non - testifying triage nurse and social

worker were the only evidence corroborating the details of the

eyewitness' s version of events and specifically naming Mr. Jackson as the

assailant. Ex. 12A, pp. 3 -4, 9 -10. Mr. Jackson did not have the

opportunity to cross - examine the nurse or the social worker. He was

unable to ask how they reached their conclusions or whether there was

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