NO. 45115-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION II**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL T. JACKSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 13-1-00156-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RUSSELL D. HAUGE **Prosecuting Attorney**

RANDALL A. SUTTON **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney**

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. AL'S STATEMENTS TO THE NURSE AND SOCIAL WORKER WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED AS NONTESTIMONIAL BUSINESS RECORDS.

Jackson argues that statements she made to a nurse and social worker should not have been admitted because they violated the confrontation clause and the business records exception to the hearsay rule. It is questionable that the constitutional aspect of this claim was preserved for review. Moreover, the claim is without merit because the statements were nontestimonial and the requirements of the business records statute were met.

1. The admission of AL's statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis did not violate Crawford.

Jackson argued extensively that AL's medical records should have been excluded. 1RP 24-26, 28-31; 4RP 332-33, 336-40. However, no *Crawford* issue was really raised. Jackson mentioned the case once when he was arguing for why he should be permitted to voir dire the physician:

But we do know that the record in this case contains input from people who aren't on the witness list, who aren't here to testify how it was done, and that the doctor doesn't know what was said to Ms. Lindsey regarding whether or not the statements would be turned over to police or could be used in court or anything of that nature. We simply just don't know.

And for that reason, there's a Crawford issue, the 6th Amendment right to confront. And we also have the hearsay issue as to what went on and his lack of knowledge as to what went on.

So for those reasons, I think that it's appropriate to voir dire the doctor out of the presence of the jury regarding diagnosis, treatment, and his knowledge of these facts.

4RP 339-40. The trial court permitted Dr. Dahlgren to the voir dired. Dahlgren testified that the relationship between the perpetrator and the victim of an assault was relevant to the treatment of the victim. 4RP 346. 346-47, 350. He did not know whether the social worker would have told AL that her statements could be used in court. 4RP 354. Jackson never asked the doctor whether he himself ever made such a statement to AL.

After the voir dire of the doctor, the court accepted argument.

Jackson never argued that *Crawford* was in issue. He argued only that it

did not comply with RCW 5.45.020. He subsequently challenged the record under ER 1002, but conceded that it was probably admissible under ER 1003. 4RP 367. He also raised a claim of privilege under RCW 5.60.060(4) and HIPAA. 4RP 367-689.

Although the Supreme Court has held that a defendant may raise a confrontation clause claim for the first time on appeal if he meets the requirements of RAP 2.5(a)(3), *State v. Kronich*, 160 Wn.2d 893, 899-01, 161 P.3d 982 (2007), *overruled on other grounds*, *State v. Jasper*, 174 Wn.2d 96, 116, 271 P.3d 876 (2012), Division I of this Court persuasively argues that subsequent United States Supreme Court decisions call that conclusion into question. *See State v. O'Cain*, 169 Wn. App. 228, 234-48, 279 P.3d 926 (2012). Nevertheless, because Jackson also frames the issue as one of ineffective assistance of counsel, the State will address the merits of this claim.

The Sixth Amendment's confrontation clause, made applicable to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment, provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. It bars the admission of the testimonial hearsay statements of a witness who does not appear at trial unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness under oath. *Crawford v.*

Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). "It is the *testimonial character* of the statement that separates it from other hearsay that, while subject to traditional limitations upon hearsay evidence, is not subject to the Confrontation Clause." *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 821, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006) (emphasis supplied). This Court reviews alleged confrontation clause violations de novo. *Kronich*, 160 Wn.2d at 901.

On three occasions since the filing of the *Crawford* opinion, the United States Supreme Court has characterized statements made to medical providers for purposes of diagnosis or treatment as nontestimonial and, therefore, not subject to a confrontation clause objection. *Michigan v. Bryant*, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S. Ct. 1143, 1157 n.9, 179 L. Ed. 2d 93 (2011) (statements made for purpose of medical diagnosis are "by their nature, made for a purpose other than use in a prosecution"); *Melendez—Diaz*, Melendez—Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 2533 n.2, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009) (discussing cited cases: "[o]thers are simply irrelevant, since they involved medical reports created for treatment purposes, which would not be testimonial under our decision today"); *Giles v. California*, 554 U.S. 353, 376, 128 S. Ct. 2678, 171 L. Ed. 2d 488 (2008) ("[O]nly testimonial statements are excluded by the Confrontation Clause.... [S]tatements to physicians in the course of

receiving treatment would be excluded, if at all, only by hearsay rules.").

Likewise under Washington precedent, statements to medical personnel, including those attributing fault, are often held admissible in domestic violence and sexual abuse cases as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis and treatment. "A declarant's statement disclosing the identity of a closely-related perpetrator is admissible under ER 803(a)(4) because part of reasonable treatment and therapy is to prevent recurrence and future injury." *State v. Williams*, 137 Wn. App. 736, 746, 154 P.3d 322 (2007). *See also* Myrna Raeder, *Crawford and Beyond: Exploring the Future of the Confrontation Clause in Light of Its Past: Remember the Ladies and the Children Too: Crawford's Impact on Domestic Violence and Child Abuse Cases*, 71 Brooklyn L. Rev. 311, 348 (Fall 2005) (finding that statements for medical diagnosis and treatment are "staples in child abuse and domestic violence cases.").

Williams held that a forensic nurse's testimony regarding a rape victim's answers to a questionnaire was admissible, even though the victim did not initially feel she needed treatment. Williams, 137 Wn. App. at 746-47. Similarly, a victim's statement to a doctor that her boyfriend kicked her, hit her with his fists, and hit her several times with a belt was admissible where the doctor said the manner in which an injury occurs, including whether it was inflicted by a stranger or a family member,

impacts diagnosis and treatment. *State v. Sandoval*, 137 Wn. App. 532, 538, 154 P.3d 271 (2007). A victim's statements to a paramedic and emergency room physician, including those identifying her assailant, were admissible "because a doctor or social worker may recommend counseling or escape from the dangerous domestic environment as part of a treatment plan." *State v. Saunders*, 132 Wn. App. 592, 608, 132 P.3d 743 (2006), *review denied*, 159 Wn.2d 1017, 157 P.3d 403 (2007). *See also State v. Fisher*, 130 Wn. App. 1, 13, 108 P.3d 1262 (2005); *State v. Moses*, 129 Wn. App. 718, 730, 119 P.3d 906 (2005).

Finally, it should be noted that the Supreme Court has given little guidance regarding the analytical framework that courts should employ in determining whether statements to non-state actors were made for purposes of creating a substitute for in-court testimony. Indeed, the Court has "explicitly reserved the question of 'whether and when statements made to someone other than law enforcement personnel are "testimonial." "

Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1155 n.3 (quoting Davis, 547 U.S. at 823 n.2).

Nevertheless, Bryant sheds some light. There, applying the Davis "primary purpose" test, Davis, 547 U.S. at 822, Bryant explained that, to ascertain the primary purpose of a police interrogation, a court must "objectively evaluate the circumstances in which the encounter occurs and the statements and actions of the parties." Bryant, 131 S. Ct. at 1156.

"[T]he relevant inquiry is not the subjective or actual purpose of the individuals involved in a particular encounter, but rather the purpose that reasonable participants would have had, as ascertained from the individuals' statements and actions and the circumstances in which the encounter occurred." *Bryant*, 131 S. Ct. at 1156. This is an objective standard. "Objectively viewed, a person giving information to a medical provider is typically doing so to benefit that person's health, not to afford a substitute for later in-court testimony." *O'Cain*, 169 Wn. App. at 250. Thus the Sixth Amendment does not preclude such testimony. *Id*.

Here, Dr. Dahlgren specifically and repeatedly testified that knowing who perpetrated an assault was an essential part of the hospital's treatment of assault victims. There is no evidence whatsoever that AL was aware that the statements she made to the hospital personnel would later be used in court. Nor, under *Davis*, would a reasonable person with a gaping gash in her forehead and blood streaming down her face have told her treatment providers what occurred for the primary purpose of preserving the story for future court proceedings. As such, there was no *Crawford* violation, and the trial court would not have erred in admitting this evidence, even if Jackson had raised the constitutional claim.

Jackson acknowledges the foregoing authorities. Brief of Appellant at 13. He purports to distinguish them, *citing Jasper*, on the

grounds that once the statements were formalized in the medical records, they became testimonial. *Jasper* is not controlling. That case involved the certification of driver's records. Following *Mendez-Diaz*, the Court concluded that such certifications prepared for trial are testimonial. *Jasper*, 174 Wn.2d at 111-16. Nothing in that case suggests that the Court intended to abrogate existing case law holding that medical records routinely prepared in the ordinary course of treating patients should be considered nontestimonial. Nor does any other case Jackson cites. Because the statements were nontestimonial neither *Crawford* nor the Sixth Amendment apply and this claim should be rejected.

2. AL's medical chart and her statements contain therein were properly admitted under ER 803.

Jackson also argues that AL's statements to the nurse and social worker should also have been excluded because even if AL's statements were not hearsay under ER 803(4), the statements contained in the hospital record by the two hospital workers were. Jackson, however, overlooks both the trial court's review of the business records statute and ER 803(6) which provides that documents qualifying under RCW Ch. 5.45 are also not hearsay.

RCW 5.45.020 provides:

A record of an act, condition or event, shall in so far as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.

Great weight is given to the trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence under RCW 5.45.020. *State v. Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d 533, 538, 789 P.2d 79 (1990). Accordingly, its ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a manifest abuse of discretion. *Id*.

The business records statute makes evidence that would otherwise be hearsay competent testimony. It contemplates that business records are presumptively reliable if made in the regular course of business and there was no apparent motive to falsify. *Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d at 538. There are five requirements for admissibility designed to ensure reliability. To be admissible in evidence a business record must (1) be in record form, (2) be of an act, condition or event, (3) be made in the regular course of business, (4) be made at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and (5) the court must be satisfied that the sources of information, method, and time of preparation justify the admittance of the evidence.

As applied to hospital records, compliance with the act obviates the necessity, expense, inconvenience, and sometimes impossibility of calling as witnesses the attendants, nurses, physicians, X ray technicians, laboratory and other hospital employees who collaborated to make the hospital record of the patient. It is not necessary to examine the person who actually created the record so long as it is produced by one who has the custody of the record as a regular part of his work or has supervision of its

creation.

Ziegler, 114 Wn.2d at 538 (quoting Cantrill v. American Mail Line, Ltd., 42 Wn.2d 590, 608, 257 P.2d 179 (1953)).

Here, there is no doubt that Exhibit 12A was in record form. There is no doubt that it recorded acts, conditions, or events. There was no doubt that it was created in the regular course of the hospital's business and made at or near the time of the act, condition, or event. *See* 4RP 355-57, 360. Further, although the quoted language in *Ziegler* suggests that the that the primary record custodian must testify, subsequent case law clarifies that point. *See State v. Garrett*, 76 Wn. App. 719, 725, 887 P.2d 488 (1995) (treating physician was competent to introduce medical chart as business record, even if she did not supervise other medical personal and social workers who made some of the entries).

Because the chart was properly admitted as a business record, the entries in it by the nurses and social workers were not hearsay. Likewise, because AL's statements were made for diagnosis and treatment they, too, were not hearsay. No error occurred.

3. Harmless error

Finally, even if the Sixth Amendment or hearsay rules had been violated any error would be harmless. "Confrontation Clause errors [are] subject to *Chapman* harmless-error analysis." *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*,

475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986). Under this standard, the State must show "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967); *State v. Stephens*, 93 Wn.2d 186, 190-91, 607 P.2d 304 (1980).

Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors ... includ[ing] the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684. This court employs the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test and looks to the untainted evidence to determine if it so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985); State v. Anderson, 171 Wn.2d 764, 770, 254 P.3d 815 (2011).

The State's statement of the facts, *supra*, deliberately omits any reference attributable to the nurses or the social worker or to the contents of Exhibit 12.² The State urges the Court to re-read that statement now. Moreover, at trial Jackson's primary concern in the notes was identification of Jackson as AL's boyfriend. Since the jury hung on the domestic violence issue, he was obviously not prejudiced in that regard.

² Jackson does not argue that the testimony of the ER doctor was improperly admitted.

Clearly if the admission of Exhibit 12 were improper, the remaining evidence is so overwhelming that any error would be harmless.

Although Jackson does not appear to challenge AL's statements to Siefert, it is plain that they were admissible as excited utterances. The excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule provides that "[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition" is not hearsay. ER 803(a)(2). The excited utterance exception is based on the notion that "under certain external circumstances of physical shock, a stress of nervous excitement may be produced which stills the reflective faculties and removes their control." State v. Chapin, 118 Wn.2d 681, 686, 826 P.2d 194 (1992) (quoting 6 Wigmore, Evidence § 1747, at 195 (1976)). Thus, "[t]he crucial question is whether the declarant was still under the influence of the event to the extent that the statement could not be the result of fabrication, intervening actions, or the exercise of choice or judgment." State v. Briscoeray, 95 Wn. App. 167, 173, 974 P.2d 912 (1999). Courts look to the amount of time that passed between the startling event and the utterance, the declarant's emotional state at the time of the utterance, and "any other factors that indicate whether the witness had an opportunity to reflect on the event and fabricate a story about it." Briscoeray, 95 Wn. App. at 174.

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